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IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA 
 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through 
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; 
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an 
Heir; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as 
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

vs. 
 
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. 
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR. 
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an 
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an 
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 Supreme Court No.: 
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 this 24th day of February, 2023 
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 By /s/ Adam Garth 
 S. Brent Vogel 

Nevada Bar No. 006858 
Adam Garth 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 

I hereby certify that on this 24th day of February, 2023, a true and correct copy 

of RESPONDENTS’ APPENDIX VOLUME III was served by electronically filing with the Clerk 

of the Court using the Odyssey E-File & Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address 

on record, who have agreed to receive electronic service in this action. 

Paul S. Padda, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Tel: 702.366.1888 
Fax: 702.366.1940 
psp@paulpaddalaw.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs  

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES 
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Tel: 702.832.5909 
Fax: 702.832.5910 
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com  
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com 
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D. 

  
 

By 
 
/s/ Heidi Brown 

 An Employee of 
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
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RIS 
S. BRENT VOGEL 
Nevada Bar No. 6858 
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com 
ADAM GARTH 
Nevada Bar No. 15045 
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com 
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
Telephone: 702.893.3383 
Facsimile: 702.893.3789 
Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System, 
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center  
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through 
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; 
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an 
Heir; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as 
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually, 
 

Plaintiffs, 
 

vs. 
 
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. 
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR. 
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an 
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an 
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z, 
 

Defendants. 
 

 Case No. A-19-788787-C 
 
Dept. No.: 30 
 
DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH 
SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL 
HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S 
REPLY IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF 
MOTION FOR ATTORNEYS’ FEES 
PURSUANT TO N.R.C.P. 68,  N.R.S. §§ 
17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), AND EDCR 7.60 
 
Hearing Date: February 9, 2022 
Hearing Time: 9:00 a.m. 

 
Defendant VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing business as “Centennial Hills 

Hospital Medical Center”) by and through its counsel of record, S. Brent Vogel and Adam Garth of 

the Law Firm LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP, hereby file their Reply in Further 

Support of Their Motion for Attorneys’ Fees Pursuant to N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, 7.085, 

18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60.  

This Motion is based upon the Memorandum of Points and Authorities below, Defendant’s 

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
2/2/2022 10:37 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Motion in Chief, the pleadings and papers on file herein, any oral argument which may be 

entertained by the Court at the hearing of this matter. 

 DATED this 2nd day of February, 2022 

  
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 

 
 
 
 By /s/ Adam Garth 
 S. BRENT VOGEL 

Nevada Bar No. 6858 
ADAM GARTH 
Nevada Bar No. 15045 
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
Tel. 702.893.3383 
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center 
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4884-6407-1944.1  3 

MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION 

Plaintiffs’ entire opposition is predicated on a false assertion that they possessed a viable 

case in the first instance.  To put Plaintiffs’ argument in the proper light, they effectively state “We 

were winning until we lost everything, but since we thought we were winning, we had a good faith 

basis to proceed.” So, according to Plaintiffs, as long as they won a number of battles but still lost 

the war, they are on firm ground – not so.   

Their entire argument is that because this Court repeatedly denied dismissal attempts by the 

respective defendants despite clear, convincing, and irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice which 

each and every plaintiff possessed, they are somehow absolved from either their malpractice or 

unethical practice of pursuing a case which was dead on arrival when filed.  The overarching factor, 

which Plaintiffs seem to “gloss over,” is the Nevada Supreme Court held that the “district court 

manifestly abused its discretion when it denied summary judgment.”1 In other words, it was so 

plainly obvious at the outset of the litigation that Brian Powell’s two State agency complaints, 

standing alone, let alone Plaintiffs sought and obtained Ms. Powell’s complete medical record from 

CHH, that this case should have been dismissed a year ago at the latest when the  summary judgment 

motion was made.  

Even more stunning in this case, as the Supreme Court also pointed out, was that Plaintiffs 

possessed the entire medical record for the decedent from CHH within one month of her death.2 

Either possession of the record or the State agency complaints was sufficient to trigger the 

commencement of inquiry notice, let alone the two combined.  All other arguments advanced by 

Plaintiffs disregard their lawyer’s incompetence in prosecuting a lawsuit he refused to admit was 

legally non-revivable, and where he failed to provide any evidence which formed the basis of his 

own concocted theories of alleged confusion as to cause of death or some fraudulent concealment 

of records.  Plaintiffs’ counsel failed to interpose an affidavit or declaration from any plaintiff in 

this case even suggesting these as a basis to support his theory, and for good reason – either it was 

 
1 Exhibit “B” to CHH’s motion in chief, p. 2 
2 Exhibit “B” to CHH’s motion in chief, pp. 3-5 
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4884-6407-1944.1  4 

a lie and could not be presented to the Court, or it was gross incompetence to fail to support any 

claim with admissible evidence in opposition to unopposed evidence in support of a motion for 

summary judgment.  Either way, Plaintiffs’ counsel acted in bad faith here. 

If Plaintiffs’ procedural bad faith was not enough, Plaintiffs had no good faith factual basis 

for starting the lawsuit. What will be plainly evident below is that Plaintiffs’ counsel commenced 

this action with their usual “go to” physician expert (who they regularly drop as an expert once time 

for expert exchanges, but utilize in an effort to get over the NRS 41A.071 hurdle) on some half-

baked theory that Ms. Powell was overdosed on Ativan which suppressed her breathing and caused 

her death.  After CHH demonstrated through unimpeachable expert reporting and evaluations that 

given the timing of the Ativan, it had almost completely metabolized in Ms. Powell long before her 

death and had no effect whatsoever on the outcome of her hospital course.  Even more revealing 

was the fact that CHH’s experts concluded, and upon which Plaintiffs’ experts actually agreed, that 

Ms. Powell died from an acute mucous plug event, not Ativan overdosing or anything else, an event 

which was not predictable.  Her demise was predetermined by her own suicide attempt and resulting 

aspiration pneumonia which created a cascading decline in her health condition, that only 

temporarily improved, but which cold not be reversed by the best of care.3  Plaintiffs’ counsel spends 

considerable time in opposition attempting to garner sympathy due to the death of Ms. Powell which 

was precipitated by her own purposeful actions and had nothing whatsoever to do with the care she 

received at CHH.  This is another perpetration of the continuing web of lies by Plaintiffs’ counsel 

which has been put to an end by the Nevada Supreme Court due to Plaintiffs’ counsel’s improper 

advancement of an expired lawsuit. 

What is even more disturbing is that Plaintiffs’ counsel attempts to legitimize their actions 

by asserting that a previously scheduled mediation somehow validates their claims.  Nothing can be 

further from the truth.  CHH attempted to limit the constant hemorrhaging of money and time 

devoted to this illegitimate lawsuit which was only being given oxygen by repeated denials of a 

 
3 Exhibit “D” hereto consisting of CHH’s initial and rebuttal expert disclosures demonstrating the 
complete absence of an underlying good faith factual basis for lawsuit. 
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4884-6407-1944.1  5 

pause in expenses while this matter worked its way through the Nevada Supreme Court for final 

determination of its legitimacy.  As previously noted in CHH’s motion in chief, Plaintiffs 

vehemently opposed any efforts to stem of tidal wave of expenses, opposing any motion for a stay 

on multiple occasions.  They forced an increase in costs and expenses and now do not want to pay 

for their actions. 

In short, Plaintiffs’ gambled, lost, and now have to pay up.  Denial of this motion would 

represent an invitation to lawyers to commence lawsuits late, encourage them to not provide any 

evidentiary support for positions they take, and after presented with an opportunity to walk away 

free and clear after being shown the impropriety of their actions, to continue to pursue baseless and 

untenable litigation.  The Nevada Supreme Court would likely be interested in weighing in on this 

issue as well. 

II. LEGAL ARGUMENT 

A. The Beattie Factors Weigh Completely In Favor of CHH 

In awarding attorneys' fees pursuant to NRCP 68, the district court must analyze the 

following factors:  “(1) whether the plaintiffs claim was brought in good faith; (2) whether the 

defendants' offer of judgment was reasonable and in good faith in both its time and amount; (3) 

whether the plaintiff's decision to reject the offer and proceed to trial was grossly unreasonable or 

in bad faith; and (4) whether the fees sought by the offeror are reasonable and justified in amount.” 

Beattie v. Thomas, 99 Nev. 579, 588-89, 688 P.2d 268, 274 (1983). However, no single Beattie 

factor is determinative, and a review of the factors shows this Court should award CHH its attorneys' 

fees. Frazier v. Drake, 131 Nev. 632, 642, 357 P.3d 365, 372 (Nev. App. 2015). While this Court’s 

order need not go into detail regarding each and every Beattie factor, its findings must be supported 

by substantial evidence. Logan v. Abe, 131 Nev. 260, 266, 350 P.3d 1139, 1143 (2015). The district 

court abuses its discretion if the Beattie factors are not supported by substantial evidence. Id. 

Further, attorneys' fees are warranted even with a finding that two of the Beattie factors 

weigh in favor of the moving party. See Lafrieda v. Gilbert, 435 P.3d 665 (Nev. 2019) (upholding 

district court's award of attorneys' fees when it found the offer of judgment was reasonable in both 

time and amount and the fees were necessary and reasonably incurred.)  In the instant case, all four 
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factors weigh completely in CHH’s favor. 

B. Plaintiffs’ Lawsuit Was Brought in Bad Faith 

As previously demonstrated in CHH’s motion in chief and in the introduction above, 

Plaintiffs’ lawsuit was not brought in good faith.  The mere fact that a 41 year old woman died, due 

to her own suicide attempt, does not require CHH to open its checkbook and pay.  Plaintiff had both 

procedural and substantive hurdles to overcome, neither of which they did. 

The Nevada Supreme Court cited multiple times which Plaintiffs received inquiry notice in 

this case.  Specifically the Court stated: 

Here, irrefutable evidence demonstrates that the real parties in interest were 
on inquiry notice by June 11, 2017 at the latest, when real party in interest 
Brian Powell, special administrator for the estate, filed a complaint with the State 
Board of Nursing. There, Brian alleged that the decedent, Rebecca Powell, "went 
into respiratory distress" and her health care providers did not appropriately 
monitor her, abandoning her care and causing her death. Thus, Brian's own 
allegations in this Board complaint demonstrate that he had enough information 
to allege a prima facie claim for professional negligence-that in treating Rebecca, 
her health care providers failed "to use the reasonable care, skill or knowledge 
ordinarily used under similar circumstances by similarly trained and experienced 
providers of health care." NRS 41A.015 (defining professional negligence); 
Winn, 128 Nev. at 252-53; 277 P.3d at 462 (explaining that a "plaintiffs general 
belief that someone's negligence may have caused his or her injury" triggers 
inquiry notice).3 That the real parties in interest received Rebecca's death 
certificate 17 days later, erroneously listing her cause of death as suicide, 
does not change this conclusion.4 Thus, the real parties in interest had until June 
11, 2018, at the latest, to file their professional negligence claim. Therefore, their 
February 4, 2019 complaint was untimely. 

 
3 The evidence shows that Brian was likely on inquiry notice 
even earlier. For example, real parties in interest had observed 
in real time, following a short period of recovery, the rapid 
deterioration of Powell's health while in petitioners' care. 
Additionally, Brian had filed a complaint with the Nevada 
Department of Health and Human Services (NDHHS) on or 
before May 23, 2017. Similar to the Nursing Board complaint, 
this complaint alleged facts, such as the petitioners' failure to 
upgrade care, sterilize sutures properly, and monitor Powell, 
that suggest he already believed, and knew of facts to support 
his belief, that negligent treatment caused Powell's death by 
the time he made these complaints to NDHHS and the Nursing 
Board. 

 
4 The real parties in interest do not adequately address why 
tolling should apply under NRS 41A.097(3) (providing that the 
limitation period for a professional negligence claim "is tolled for 
any period during which the provider of health care has concealed 
any act, error or omission upon which the action is based"). Even 
if they did, such an argument would be unavailing, as the medical 
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records provided were sufficient for their expert witness to 
conclude that petitioners were negligent in Powell's care. See 
Winn, 128 Nev. at 255, 277 P.3d at 464 (holding that tolling under 
NRS 41A.097(3) is only appropriate where the intentionally 
concealed medical records were "material" to the professional 
negligence claims). Finally, we have not extended the doctrine of 
equitable tolling to NRS 41A.097(2), and the real parties in 
interest do not adequately address whether such an application is 
appropriate under these facts. See Edwards v. Emperor's Garden 
Rest., 122 Nev. 317, 330 n.38, 130 P.3d 1280, 1288 n.38 (2006) 
(refusing to consider arguments that a party did not cogently argue 
or support with relevant authority). 

 
Given that uncontroverted evidence demonstrates that the petitioners are 
entitled to judgment as a matter of law because the complaint is time-barred 
under NRS 41A.097(2), see NRCP 56(a); Wood, 121 Nev. at 729, 121 P.3d at 
1029 (recognizing that courts must grant summary judgment when the pleadings 
and all other evidence on file, viewed in a light most favorable to the nonmoving 
party, "demonstrate that no genuine issue as to any material fact [remains] and 
that the moving party is entitled to a judgment as a matter of law" (internal 
quotations omitted)) . . .4 

 
Let’s review the timing of the notice.  Independent from anything that Brian Powell did with 

reporting alleged and suspected medical negligence to two State agencies, Plaintiff Taryn Creecy 

sought and obtained a Probate Court order directing that she be permitting to obtain Ms. Powell’s 

medical records from CHH, and that court order was issued on May 24, 2017, 13 days after Ms. 

Powell’s death.5  Does Plaintiffs’ counsel expect that everyone is so stupid as to believe that Ms. 

Creecy sought a complete copy of the medical records from CHH for fun?  Who requests medical 

records from a hospital for a deceased individual if not to review them to determine what happened 

due to some suspected impropriety of care?  The Supreme Court noted that CHH presented 

“uncontroverted evidence” that Plaintiffs’ received a complete copy of Ms. Powell’s entire CHH 

medical chart which was demonstrated to this Court on the motion for summary judgment and again 

on appeal through the affidavits of CHH’s custodian of records and the medical records retrieval 

service which processed Ms. Creecy’s order for the records.  Due to an improper address provided 

by Ms. Creecy, the records were sent twice, the last time on June 29, 2017.6  As the Supreme Court 

noted in its writ of mandamus order, Plaintiffs proffered a theory of fraudulent concealment but 

 
4 Exhibit “B” to CHH’s motion in chief, pp. 3-5 (emphasis supplied) 
5 Exhibit “E” hereto 
6 Exhibit “G” 
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4884-6407-1944.1  8 

failed to demonstrate any evidence of it. The Supreme Court acknowledged that Plaintiffs were in 

full possession of the entire medical record which was available to them and at least partially 

reviewed by their medical expert in support of his NRS 41A.071 declaration. 

In an effort to extricate themselves from the mess of their own creation, Plaintiffs’ counsel 

erroneously seeks en banc reconsideration of the Supreme Court’s order in this case, falsely stating 

that the only evidence of inquiry notice here was Brian Powell’s two State agency complaints, and 

that noting that his complaints were initiated without knowledge of the remaining Plaintiffs in this 

case (an assertion which is unsupported by any evidence whatsoever in the record but is again being 

unethically advanced by ethically bankrupt counsel).  That motion is almost assuredly doomed to 

failure.   

Plaintiffs further contends in their pending motion in Supreme Court that only the Estate’s 

claims could be barred by the statute of limitations since it was Brian Powell, the Estate’s special 

administrator, who allegedly “went rogue” and filed these complaints without any knowledge by 

other Plaintiffs.  Thus, Plaintiffs’ counsel asserts the remaining Plaintiffs cannot be bound by Mr. 

Powell’s rogue actions.  Again, to think everyone is so stupid as to believe that nonsense is insulting 

to say the least. Plaintiffs’ counsel conveniently omitted that all of the Plaintiffs prosecuted this 

lawsuit having received records from CHH independent from any State agency complaints. In 

Christina Kushnir, M.D. et al. v. Eighth Judicial District Court, 137 Nev. Adv. Op. 41 (2021), the 

Court of Appeals stated that NRS 41A.097’s one year discovery period for the purposes of inquiry 

notice in a professional negligence case begins to run when a party receives the complete medical 

record and “had facts before him that would have led an ordinarily prudent person to investigate 

further.”   Plaintiffs’ possession of the hospital records in this case coupled with their expert’s ability 

to review them and opine on the alleged malpractice for NRS 41A.071 purposes commenced the 

running of the statute of limitations.   

Conspicuously absent from Plaintiffs’ opposition on this motion as well as to the Supreme 

Court in their motion for en banc reconsideration, is any citation to this binding authority and the 

cases preceding it.  Thus, the mere possession of the complete medical record in June, 2017 by 

Plaintiffs commenced the running of the statute of limitations here.  The Nevada Supreme Court’s 
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4884-6407-1944.1  9 

decision in this case made that perfectly clear.  Thus, Plaintiffs lacked a good faith basis for their 

claim in the first place since they possessed the medical records within 6 weeks of Ms. Powell’s 

death any did nothing to preserve their rights for 20 months thereafter before filing this illegitimate 

and untimely lawsuit.  This fact alone presents evidence of bad faith. 

Moreover, the Nevada Supreme Court also stated in footnote 3 to its decision cited above, 

“The evidence shows that Brian was likely on inquiry notice even earlier. For example, real parties 

in interest had observed in real time, following a short period of recovery, the rapid deterioration of 

Powell's health while in petitioners’ care.”  In other words, Plaintiffs made assertions in the case 

that they personally observed Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration.  By so asserting, they admit they 

were on the very inquiry notice required.  Again, Plaintiffs’ counsel conveniently forgets to highlight 

his claim on Plaintiffs’ behalf in this regard since it will not support the misrepresentation of facts 

he now attempts to perpetrate on this Court in opposition to the instant motion. 

In summary, Plaintiffs’ bad faith has been determined in three different ways – (1) 

possessing the entire medical record on or about June 29, 2017, (2) all Plaintiffs allegedly witnessing 

Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration of condition, and (3) two State agency complaints specifically 

alleging malpractice and requesting investigations.  Any one of these is sufficient for inquiry notice.  

All combined, it screams inquiry notice.  All of this information was within Plaintiffs’ exclusive 

possession at the time of the lawsuit’s filing.  For Plaintiffs’ counsel to manufacture a nonsensical 

and completely unsubstantiated claim of “confusion”, lacking any shred of evidentiary support, 

demonstrates the very bad faith for which the penalties of the statutes and rules were established to 

deter.  Therefore, this was a bad faith lawsuit by Plaintiffs’ and their counsel, plain and simple. 

C. CHH’s Offer of Judgment Was Brought in Good Faith in Both Timing and 
Amount 

 Plaintiffs’ opposition to this factor is based upon the galling and false claim that just because 

Ms. Powell died at CHH at the age of 41, CHH’s offer of judgment should have included a cash 

award to Plaintiffs rather than a waiver of over $58,000 in costs and fees precipitated by Plaintiffs’ 

bad faith lawsuit.   

 CHH’s Offer was reasonable as to time.  The Offer was served on August 28, 2020.  CHH’s 

367



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

4884-6407-1944.1  10 

motion for summary judgment was served on September 2, 2020, 5 days after the Offer and well 

within the time to accept it, 9 days to be exact.  Moreover, the Offer was made about 1½ years from 

the lawsuit’s commencement.  As previously demonstrated herein, on the original motion for 

summary judgment, on appeal to the Nevada Supreme Court, and in the Supreme Court’s decision 

thereon, every single one of the Plaintiffs was on inquiry notice of alleged malpractice in three 

different ways, where only one means was sufficient to commence the running of the statute of 

limitations.  These were made abundantly clear in CHH’s summary judgment motion pending 

coterminously with the Offer.  Plaintiffs were the parties in exclusive possession of evidence of 

inquiry notice.  The fact that this Court previously denied CHH’s predecessor counsel’s motion to 

dismiss did not delegitimize the arguments which were only amplified and irrefutably demonstrated 

by CHH in its motion for summary judgment to which a wholly different standard applied and to 

which Plaintiffs were obligated to provide evidence in opposition thereto.  This they failed to do, 

and the Supreme Court noted it.   

 Moreover, Plaintiffs were in possession of CHH’s respective requests for production of 

documents and interrogatories six weeks prior to the motion for summary judgment having been 

filed, and they produced the “smoking gun” documents demonstrating irrefutable evidence of 

inquiry notice prior to the motion for summary judgment having been made and even while said 

motion was pending before this Court prior to the final submission of the motion. Plaintiffs were on 

notice of the statute of limitations issues even as early as the motion to dismiss made by predecessor 

counsel in July, 2019, just months after commencing this action, yet they still pursued their 

untenable claim while in full possession of the documents which defeated it.   

 Plaintiffs’ counsel further falsely assumes that because this Court denied CHH’s summary 

judgment motion, an error corrected by the Nevada Supreme Court, that somehow provides cover 

to Plaintiffs for their improper commencement of the action in the first place.  It does not.   CHH’s 

Offer was made based upon Plaintiffs’ exclusive possession of the very evidence necessary to defeat 

their assertions of a lack of inquiry notice.  Therefore, the timing of the Offer was completely proper. 

 Likewise, the amount of fees and costs sought by CHH are completely reasonable and are at 

least supported by persuasive authority, i.e. Busick v. Trainor, 437 P.3d 1050 (Nev. 2019) which 
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notes that a waiver of costs is sufficient consideration.   An offer of judgment containing only a 

mutual waiver of attorneys’ fees and costs in exchange for a dismissal of a lawsuit is not nominal, 

and may constitute a reasonable offer made in good faith. See Busick v. Trainor, 2019 Nev. Unpub. 

LEXIS 378 at *6-8 (No. 72966 March 28, 2019). In Busick, the plaintiffs alleged $ 1-3 million 

dollars in damages in a medical malpractice claim. In preparing for trial, the defendant served an 

offer of judgment on the plaintiffs for a mutual waiver of attorneys' fees and costs. Id. At the time 

the offer of judgment was made, the defendant had incurred approximately $ 95,000 in costs. Since 

an award of costs is mandated under NRS 18.020, the district court found the waiver of such is a 

meaningful sum to be included in the offer of judgment, and awarded defendant its costs and 

attorneys' fees pursuant to NRCP 68. 

 In this case, CHH’s Offer was to waive over $58,000 in costs and fees.  Plaintiffs did nothing 

about the Offer, which under the Rule, expired after 14 days.  In a separate memorandum of costs, 

which Plaintiffs failed to timely move to retax, CHH provided supporting authority for same.  On 

this motion, CHH offered to present to this Court for in camera inspection (to preserve 

attorney/client privilege and work product privilege) to provide time sheets for all time keepers and 

all invoices, costs, disbursements and fees.  What have Plaintiffs offered – nothing. They provide 

not one shred of evidence that the costs are unreasonable or any basis for so stating.  The only 

unreasonable factor in Plaintiffs’ counsel’s mind is that they lost and have now subjected their 

clients to a judgment due to their counsel’s hubris.  Lest we forget here – it was CHH which 

attempted to reduce costs here by seeking stays of discovery.  Plaintiffs opposed those efforts at 

every turn.  Plaintiffs now oppose paying for the costs they forced CHH to incur.  Unfortunately for 

Plaintiffs, the law provides a recovery mechanism to counter Plaintiffs’ efforts.  In fact, it can be 

assumed that Plaintiffs purposefully sought to increase CHH’s costs to extract a settlement despite 

the untenable claim they advanced as a dead lawsuit at its filing. 

 All of these demonstrate Plaintiffs’ bad faith, pure and simple.  Given the likelihood of 

Plaintiffs losing on this issue, the offered waiver of the right to seek reimbursement of costs was 

reasonable in both timing and amount, especially given the multiple opportunities for Plaintiffs to 

be on notice of the issue. 
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D. Plaintiffs’ Decision to Reject the Offer of Judgment Was in Bad Faith and 
Grossly Unreasonable 

 
 Plaintiffs claim that since this Court kept allowing Plaintiffs to win instead of 

properly dismissing this case from the outset, or at a minimum, when irrefutable evidence of inquiry 

notice was supplied by CHH to which Plaintiffs interposed nothing in opposition, they were 

justified in rejecting the Offer.  Timing of the Offer does not support Plaintiffs’ counsel’s assertion.  

As previously noted, CHH’s summary judgment motion was made 5 days after the Offer.  Plaintiffs 

knew they possessed irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice by having received the medical records 

of Ms. Powell more than three years earlier.  They knew they provided the records to their medical 

expert who opined thereon.  Plaintiffs’ expert, Dr. Sami Hashim, stated in clear terms the following: 

Based upon the medical records, the patient did not and with high probability 
could not have died from the cause of death stated in the Death Certificate.  The 
patient died as a direct consequence of respiratory failure directly due to below 
standard of care violations as indicated by her medical records and 
reinforced by the Department of Health and Human Services – Division of 
Health Quality and Compliance Investigative Report.7 

 
(Emphasis supplied).  Dr. Hashim noted that he primarily relied upon the very medical records 

which Plaintiffs obtained in May/June, 2017, and the HHS Report was only a “reinforcement” 

of what was contained in the medical records.    

 The issue from the commencement of this action involved the timeliness of it.  Plaintiffs’ 

counsel’s sole argument is that “there was no bad faith as Plaintiffs wholeheartedly believed in their 

causes of action which was supported by the report issued by HHS in February of 2018.”  First of 

all, Plaintiffs’ counsel’s belief in their causes of action is of no moment here.  The sole issue is 

whether Plaintiffs possessed the very information they needed, and were on notice of the law 

regarding same, when they commenced the action, to have commenced a timely lawsuit.  They 

possessed all necessary information on multiple fronts but nevertheless pursued a case which was 

dead on arrival. Plaintiffs alleged that they watched Ms. Powell rapidly deteriorate during her stay 

at CHH.  The Supreme Court said that was sufficient inquiry notice.   

 Plaintiffs sought and obtained a Probate Court order granting them access to Ms. Powell’s 

 
7 Exhibit “F” hereto, ¶6(B) 
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entire CHH medical record.  Before commencing the lawsuit, Plaintiffs’ counsel obtained the 

records provided by CHH to Plaintiffs and forwarded them to Dr. Hashim to obtain his opinion for 

NRS 41A.071 purposes.  There was no other mechanism in place to obtain the records other than 

what Plaintiffs engaged since no lawsuit was pending to provide said records pursuant to NRCP 

16.1. Plaintiffs’ counsel knowingly advanced a completely unsubstantiated and unsupported theory 

of either confusion by his clients or fraudulent concealment by CHH.  As noted by the Supreme 

Court, neither theory had any basis whatsoever.  Thus, Plaintiffs’ counsel purposely failed to support 

their opposition to irrefutable evidence warranting summary judgment on the inquiry notice issue, 

underscoring their bad faith here.  

 Finally, Plaintiffs possessed and then provided evidence of Plaintiffs’ inquiry notice by 

supplying the two State agency complaints.  The Supreme Court considered that as additional 

irrefutable evidence of Plaintiffs’ inquiry notice. Now, Plaintiffs’ counsel attempts to deflect from 

their own incompetence and claim that the Supreme Court imposed a standard never contemplated, 

namely that all of the Plaintiffs were bound by the State agency complaints initiated by Brian Powell.  

Again, Plaintiffs’ counsel presents no evidence of that, just their own assertion which is not only 

improper, but false.  Plaintiffs’ bad faith is further underscored by the fact that they tacitly admit 

that the Estate’s claims in this case were made in bad faith because the State agency complaints 

were made solely by Brian Powell on behalf of the Estate, not on behalf of the remaining Plaintiffs.  

By so admitting, Plaintiffs’ counsel acknowledges that, at a minimum, the Estate possessed 

sufficient inquiry notice by June 11, 2017, and that the Estate’s lawsuit was untimely when filed.  

That is further evidence of bad faith by pursuing a claim known to be untimely. 

 Additionally, Plaintiffs blocked every opportunity CHH provided to “stop the financial 

bleeding” by staying the litigation while this case dispositive issue made its way through the courts.  

They opposed two stay motions and a motion to reconsider a stay.  They opposed a motion to dismiss 

and a motion for summary judgment, presenting not one shred of evidence by anyone with personal 

knowledge of the facts, supporting their claim of a timely commencement of the action.  They forced 

CHH to incur substantial legal costs and expenses to defend the action, requiring the engagement of 

counsel along with multiple experts, to pursue a lawsuit they knew could not be maintained from 
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the start. Furthermore, they provided unresponsive answers to discovery requests seeking to avoid 

addressing the underlying claims in the lawsuit necessitating EDCR 2..34 conferences and their 

supplementation of a large number of discovery responses.  At every turn and opportunity, Plaintiffs 

stonewalled providing materials and information supportive of their claims while placing CHH in 

the position of having to incur massive expenses to obtain that to which it was legally entitled and 

seek dismissal of what Plaintiffs clearly knew was an untenable claim.  The Plaintiffs’ failure to 

accept CHH’s Offer of Judgment was both in bad faith and grossly unreasonable. 

E. Costs and Fees Sought By CHH Are Both Reasonable and Justified 

 In what has to be the most ridiculous, baseless and nonsensical argument yet, Plaintiffs’ 

counsel stated in opposition that “it is Defendant [sic] continued filing of Motions based upon the 

same theory that Plaintiffs did not file their lawsuit within the prescribed statute of limitations that 

drove up Defendant’s fees.”  So, to boil it down to its simplest “logic”, because CHH pursued its 

rights, filed a motion for summary judgment based upon statute of limitations which should have 

been granted as the Supreme Court noted, and because Plaintiffs filed an untimely lawsuit, it is 

CHH’s fault that Plaintiffs’ counsel pursued an untenable case.   

 What drove up costs from the first dollar was the filing of an untimely lawsuit.  The fact that 

Plaintiffs were allowed to get away with it for so long underscores the need for costs and fees to be 

imposed.  Plaintiffs drove up the costs and fees here by initiating the lawsuit and then, when 

unrebutted evidence of their counsel’s practice failures was plainly evident and presented for all to 

see, Plaintiffs’ counsel chose to press forward with an unwinnable case.  As this Court is aware,  

Plaintiffs are not without a remedy here.  If Plaintiffs engaged their counsel prior to the expiration 

of the statute of limitations, it was a clear breach of  the standard of care to have not timely filed the 

lawsuit.  The issue if the lawsuit’s timeliness has already been fully adjudicated.  Plaintiffs’ counsel 

already admitted in their opposition to this motion that they had a completely viable case against 

CHH if  not for  that darn statute of limitations.  Thus, we have judicial determination  of a breach 

in the standard of care, depending upon when Plaintiffs’ counsel was engaged, and  an admission 

by said counsel as to the viability of Plaintiffs’ underlying case.  Plaintiffs may then pursue a legal 

malpractice case against Mr. Padda’s office, and since he so firmly believes that just because Ms. 
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Powell died, Plaintiffs are entitled to something, he can feel free to pay them. 

An analysis of the Beattie factors shows that an award of attorneys’ fees to CHH from the 

time of the Offer of Judgment served on Plaintiffs to the present is warranted and appropriate. 

F. Amount of Fees Incurred 

 When awarding fees in the offer of judgment context under N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S. 17.115 

[currently N.R.S. 17.117], the district court must also consider the reasonableness of the fees 

pursuant to Brunzell v. Golden Gate National Bank, 85 Nev. 345, 455 P.2d 31 (1969).  Id.  When 

determining the amount of attorneys’ fees to award, the District Court has wide discretion, to be 

’“tempered only by reason and fairness”’ Shuette v. Beazer Homes, 121 Nev. 837, 864 (2005).8  If 

the district court’s exercise of discretion is neither arbitrary nor capricious, it will not be disturbed 

on appeal.  Schouweiler, 101 Nev. at 833.  

"In determining the amount of fees to award, the [district] court is not limited to one specific 

approach; its analysis may begin with any method rationally designed to calculate a reasonable 

amount, so long as the requested amount is reviewed in light of the . . . Brunzell factors."  See Haley 

v. Eighth Judicial Dist. Court, 128 Nev. 171 (2012); see also, Gunderson v. D.R. Horton, Inc., 319 

P.3d 606, 615-616, 130 Nev. Adv. Rep. 9 (2014).   

 

The following four Brunzell factors are to be considered by the court: 
 

(1) the qualities of the advocate: ability, training, education, experience, 
professional standing and skill; 

  
(2) the character of the work to be done: its difficulty, its intricacy, its 
importance, time and skill required, the responsibility imposed and the 
prominence and character of the parties where they affect the importance of the 
litigation; 

 
(3) the work actually performed by the lawyer: the skill, time and attention 
given to the work; 

 
(4) the result: whether the attorney was successful and what benefits were 
derived. 

 
Brunzell v. Golden Gate, at 349-50. 

 
8 Reasonable attorneys’ fees also include fees for paralegal and non-attorney staff “whose labor 
contributes to the work product for which an attorney bills her client.”  See Las Vegas Metro. Police 
Dep't v. Yeghiazarian, 312 P.3d 503, 510 (Nev. 2013).   
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From August 28, 2020 to present, the attorneys’ fees incurred by CHH are as follows: 

Partner Adam Garth    405.6 hours  $91,260.00 

Partner Brent Vogel    39.8 hours  $  8,955.00 

Associate Heather Armantrout  33.1 hours  $  6,404.85 

Paralegal Arielle Atkinson   46.9 hours  $  4,221.00 

Paralegal Joshua Daor    0.1 hours  $       90.00 

       Total  $110,930.85 

Plaintiffs provide not one shred of evidence of justification in opposition to the instant 

motion to demonstrate that the fees associated herewith are not in line with what is charged in the 

community, and the fact that the hourly rates are even below average.  A consideration of the 

Brunzell factors shows that the recovery of the entire billed amount of feels from August 28, 2020, 

to present is entirely appropriate. 

G. Award of Pre-NRCP Rule 68 Offer of Judgment Costs and Fees Pursuant to 
NRS 7.085 

 
Despite Plaintiffs’ counsel’s entreaties to the contrary, this case was not brought in good 

faith for all of the reasons articulated hereinabove and in CHH’s motion in chief.  Plaintiffs had no 

viable case from the inception.  It was not even close.  Moreover, all of the evidence concerning the 

timing issues in this case fell squarely within the exclusive possession of Plaintiffs, not CHH.  They 

knew when they requested the medical records and received them. They knew what they allegedly 

witnessed at the hospital.  They knew they went to Probate Court for the express purpose of 

obtaining Ms. Powell’s medical records.  They knew they pursued two State agency inquiries into 

the allegations of malpractice they requested be undertaken.  Through their lawyer only, without 

interposing anything during the pendency of the motions, they feign ignorance of the State agency 

investigations when it comes to commencing the statute of limitations clock, but then collectively 

utilize the results of those investigations to prosecute the lawsuit on behalf  of all Plaintiffs, not just 

the Estate.  In other words, Plaintiffs want to selectively apply what works for  them, but eliminate 

what injures their case when it comes  time to pay up.  They cannot have it both ways.  The law was 

clearly made out that possession of the entirety of the medical records provides inquiry notice.  
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Plaintiffs’ report to the State agencies alleging the very malpractice they allege in this case is 

another.  Moreover, Plaintiffs claimed to be bystanders during Ms. Powell’s rapid deterioration at 

the time of the alleged incident.  Each of these alone provided the requisite inquiry notice and all of 

the rules associated with the respective conditions for such notice were firmly established.  

Unfortunately for Plaintiffs, they hired a lawyer who failed to either know or follow them and have 

now been subjected to costs and fees. 

NRS § 7.085 defines the very behavior exhibited by Plaintiffs’ counsel in this case.  There 

could not have been a more textbook example of inquiry notice than what existed in this case, but 

still Plaintiffs’ counsel persisted in not only lying about the facts, but failed to interpose any 

evidence opposing the irrefutable evidence of inquiry notice provided by CHH.  How much 

more egregious can such conduct be?  Plaintiffs’ counsel even has the audacity to accuse our firm 

of unethical conduct in calling them out for their  lies, misrepresentations and professional 

incompetence.    

As NRS 7.085 states within its terms, courts are mandated to hold parties and their counsel 

accountable and to liberally construe the facts ibn favor of the prevailing party who  demonstrates  

the impropriety of litigation pursued without legal basis for doing so.  As noted by a sister 

Department, “NRS 7.085 essentially provides, where an attorney violates NRS 18.010(2), NRCP 11 

or EDCR 7.60, the delinquent lawyer may be required to personally pay the additional costs, 

expenses and/or attorney's fees in all appropriate situations. Notably, as shown above, NRS 

18.010(2)(b), EDCR 7.60 and NRS 7.085 do not require Defendants to be "prevailing parties" and 

attorneys' fees may be awarded without regard to the recovery sought.” Berberich v. S. Highland 

Cmty. Ass'n, 2019 Nev. Dist. LEXIS 130, *11 (Nev. Dist. Ct., Case No. A-16-731824-C, January 

29, 2019).   

 Hereinabove and in CHH’s motion in chief, CHH provided a long documented recitation of 

case law and facts which specifically and directly contradict anything and everything advanced by 

Plaintiffs’ counsel in this matter.  Plaintiffs’ counsel did everything he could to force CHH to incur 

expenses.  He filed a case well beyond the statute of limitations, despite clear case law demonstrating 

when inquiry notice commences.  He was faced with two motions on the issue and misrepresented 

375



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

4884-6407-1944.1  18 

the facts.  He provided not one shred of evidence to support his personal theories about confusion, 

refusing and unable to produce any supporting evidence. He provided no support for a suggestion 

of fraudulent concealment, and opposed any motions for a stay of proceedings while the statute of 

limitations issue made its way through the appellate system.  In short, Plaintiffs’ counsel advanced 

a case which was dead on arrival.  He knew it, was reminded of it, and pursued it anyway, hoping 

for a judicial lifeline.  The Supreme Court made certain to cover all possible avenues for Plaintiffs’ 

counsel’s attempt to scurry away from his late and improper case filing.  Adding insult to injury, he 

did everything he could to increase expenses.  Elections have consequences.  Those consequences 

are sanctions under NRS 7.085 which include the $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and 

expenses incurred from the commencement of this litigation.  Based upon Plaintiffs counsel’s 

violation of the two prongs of NRS 7.085, the Supreme Court has determined: 

The language of NRS 7.085 is straightforward. Subsection 1 of NRS 7.085 
provides that district courts "shall" hold attorneys "personally" liable for 
"additional costs, expenses and attorney's fees" under certain circumstances. If 
the statutory conditions are met, "the court shall" impose a sanction of 
taxable fees and costs "reasonably incurred because of such conduct." Id 
With respect to "such conduct," the statute requires no more than what it states: 
in relevant part, that "a court find[] that an attorney has" (i) "[brought or] 
maintained ... a civil action" that (ii) either (a) "is not well-grounded in fact," (b) 
"is not warranted by existing law," or (c) "is not warranted ... by a[] [good faith] 
argument for changing the existing law." See NRS 7.085(1)(a). Subsection 2 
requires Nevada courts to "liberally construe" subsection 1 "in favor of awarding 
costs, expenses and attorney's fees in all appropriate situations." NRS 7.085(2) 
(emphasis added). 

 
Washington v. AA Primo Builders, Ltd. Liab. Co., 440 P.3d 49 (Nev. 2019) (Emphasis supplied).  

“The statutes are clear—parties who bring and maintain an action without grounds shall have 

attorney fees imposed against them.” Lopez v. Corral, Nos. 51541, 51972, 2010 Nev. LEXIS 69, at 

*24, 2010 WL 5541115 (Dec. 20, 2010). 

 There is no clearer case for the imposition of attorney’s fees than this one.  Plaintiffs’ case 

was entirely frivolous as it was knowingly filed beyond the statute of limitations.  Even if it was not 

known from the outset, which the evidence clearly demonstrated that it was, it became abundantly 

clear that the Plaintiffs themselves not only suspected, but actually accused CHH of malpractice and 

sought investigations by the State into their allegations.  Plaintiffs supplied the very evidence 

damning their own assertions of “confusion” which make Plaintiffs’ counsel’s advancement thereof 
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all the more egregious. 

 Thus, in addition to all NRCP Rule 68 post offer fees and costs, CHH requests that sanctions 

be imposed against Plaintiffs’ counsel for all pre-NRCP Rule 68 costs and fees totaling $58,514.36 

in accordance with NRS 7.085. 

H. EDCR 7.60 Authorizes the Imposition of Fines, Costs, and/or Attorneys’ Fees 
Due to an Attorney’s Presentation of Frivolous Opposition to a Motion or Who 
Multiplies the Proceeding in a Case to Increase Costs 

Again, in opposition to CHH’s instant motion, Plaintiffs’ counsel decided to take the “best 

defense is a good offense” approach to this section’s relief.  The only problem is that the offense is 

far from good.  Plaintiffs’ counsel states that fees increased for two reasons: (1) CHH filed multiple 

motions pertaining to dismissal, summary judgment and for stays, forcing Plaintiffs to respond, and 

(2) CHH propounded extensive discovery in an effort to ascertain the theory of liability and 

causation associated with Plaintiffs’ untenable claim, as well as additional supporting 

documentation of Plaintiffs’ inquiry notice which Plaintiffs’ provided during the pendency of the 

motion for summary judgment, to wit, Plaintiffs’ State agency complaints. 

So what is Plaintiffs’ counsel really saying – Plaintiffs could file a lawsuit where the statute 

of limitations expired  8 months before, and CHH was not permitted to ascertain any discovery  to 

contradict that, and was not permitted to obtain Plaintiffs’ substantiation for their underlying claims.  

Plaintiffs’ assertion in this regard is not only meritless, it is the most foolish argument they made in 

this case, and that is really saying something.  The better perspective, and the one by which the 

statutes require the matter be viewed, is that had Plaintiffs’ counsel properly ascertained the state of 

the law, they would have recognized their lawsuit was filed too late.  Once they were advised of it 

on multiple occasions, they were given the opportunity to extricate themselves for no costs but 

instead, they doubled down and then lost their entire case.  Bringing an untenable lawsuit from the 

beginning is what caused Plaintiffs’ to be in this position, not anything CHH did. 

Plaintiffs’ counsel commenced and maintained a completely unsustainable action from the 

beginning.  They knowingly possessed the full medical file.  They went to court to obtain an 

authorization to get the medical file.  They never denied receiving the medicals, and in fact, utilized 

the medicals they did receive to obtain a medical affidavit for use with the Complaint.  They 
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knowingly possessed multiple complaints to State agencies alleging malpractice against CHH and 

requesting formal investigations thereof.  Then, for purposes of the motion for summary judgment, 

Plaintiffs’ counsel feigned confusion on his client’s behalf as to decedent’s cause of death (a fact 

which none of the Plaintiffs confirmed in any sworn statement or testimony).  After creating chaos 

for no reason, when given the opportunity to prevent CHH from incurring further costs, Plaintiffs’ 

counsel opposed any request for a stay of proceedings, three times in this case, requiring the 

continued discovery process, expert evaluations and export reporting.  They refused to agree to 

postpone the trial date to allow this matter to make its way through the Supreme Court, with 

knowledge that the Court would be ruling one way or another on this case dispositive issue.  In all, 

Plaintiffs’ counsel knowingly caused enormous costs on CHH only to have the very issues raised in 

this Court result in a total dismissal.  CHH should not be required to pay for Plaintiffs’ folly, 

especially when Plaintiffs’ counsel purposely looked to increase expenses while pursuing a defunct 

case from the outset.  Thus, EDCR 7.60 provides a further avenue of deterrence to attorneys, like 

Plaintiffs’ counsel, who engage in these unnecessary and flagrantly frivolous lawsuits which are 

dead before they are even filed, justifying an award of $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 

68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to 

N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60. 

I. CHH Is Also Entitled to Its Fees and Costs Per NRS 18.010(2)  

Likewise, CHH is entitled to an award of his attorney’s fees and costs under NRS 

§18.010(2)(b) and Plaintiffs’ opposition is unavailing in this regard.  It has been determined by this 

State’s highest Court that Plaintiffs possessed inquiry notice as late as June, 2017, merely a month 

after Ms. Powell’s death, but by their own admissions as to their contemporaneous observance of 

events, as early as the  time of her death on May 11, 2017.  In other words, the Supreme Court 

already determined that Plaintiffs’ case was groundless because it was filed too late.  Anything else 

is immaterial. Plaintiffs’ counsel made the foolhardy move to file a lawsuit 8 months beyond the 

latest date to do so, failed to support any motion by CHH with any evidentiary support for their 

fallacious and concocted theories, and now claim that they either did not commence, or even more 

egregiously continued to maintain a knowingly untenable claim in light of the overwhelming and 
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uncontroverted evidence submitted by CHH.  they had a fair chance to back out gracefully but 

thumbed their nose at it and are now crying that it is unfair to hold them accountable.  That is 

precisely what the Legislature did by enacting this statute – hold lawyers like Plaintiffs’ counsel 

accountable for untenable lawsuits and the creation of increased costs to attempt to strongarm a 

defendant into a settlement.  Plaintiffs’ plan failed miserably and now is time to pay the piper. 

For the reasons discussed above, CHH respectfully requests an award of attorney’s fees and 

costs that it incurred in this matter, and enter an order awarding $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per 

N.R.C.P. 68 and N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant 

to N.R.S.§§ 7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60. 

III. CONCLUSION 

Based upon the legal authority and reasons stated above, Defendants respectfully request the 

Court grant their Motion and award them $110,930.85 in attorneys’ fees per N.R.C.P. 68 and 

N.R.S.§§ 17.117, plus $58,514.36 in pre-NRCP 68 offer fees and expenses pursuant to N.R.S.§§ 

7.085, 18.010(2) and EDCR 7.60. 

 DATED this 2nd day of February, 2022. 

 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH  LLP 
 

 
 
 
 By /s/  Adam Garth  
 S. BRENT VOGEL 

Nevada Bar No. 006858 
ADAM GARTH 
Nevada Bar No. 15045 
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
Tel. 702.893.3383 
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital
Medical Center 

 
  

379



1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

13

14

15

16

17

18

19

20

21

22

23

24

25

26

27

28

 

4884-6407-1944.1  22 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on this 2nd day of February, 2022, a true and correct copy 

of DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS 

HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S REPLY IN FURTHER SUPPORT OF MOTION FOR 

ATTORNEYS’ FEES PURSUANT TO N.R.C.P. 68,  N.R.S. §§ 17.117, 7.085, 18.010(2), AND 

EDCR 7.60 was served by electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey E-File 

& Serve system and serving all parties with an email-address on record, who have agreed to receive 

electronic service in this action. 

Paul S. Padda, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Tel: 702.366.1888 
Fax: 702.366.1940 
psp@paulpaddalaw.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs  

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES 
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Tel: 702.832.5909 
Fax: 702.832.5910 
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com  
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com 
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D. 
 

  
 

 

By /s/ Heidi Brown 
 An Employee of 

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
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LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

S. BRENT VOGEL 
Nevada Bar No. 06858 
Brent.Vogel@lewisbrisbois.com 
ADAM GARTH 
Nevada Bar No. 15045 
Adam.Garth@lewisbrisbois.com  
LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
T: 702.893.3383 
F: 702.893.3789 
Attorneys for Defendant Valley Health System,  
LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical  
Center  
 
 

DISTRICT COURT 

CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

ESTATE OF REBECCA POWELL, through 
BRIAN POWELL, as Special Administrator; 
DARCI CREECY, individually and as Heir; 
TARYN CREECY, individually and as an 
Heir; ISAIAH KHOSROF, individually and as 
an Heir; LLOYD CREECY, individually;, 
 
Plaintiffs, 
 
vs. 
 
VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC (doing 
business as “Centennial Hills Hospital Medical 
Center”), a foreign limited liability company; 
UNIVERSAL HEALTH SERVICES, INC., a 
foreign corporation; DR. DIONICE S. 
JULIANO, M.D., an individual; DR. 
CONRADO C.D. CONCIO, M.D., an 
individual; DR. VISHAL S. SHAH, M.D., an 
individual; DOES 1-10; and ROES A-Z;, 
 

Defendants. 

 Case No.  A-19-788787-C 
 
Dept. No. 30 
 

DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH 
SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL 

HILLS HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S 
INITIAL EXPERT DISCLOSURE 

 
 

Defendant Valley Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center, by 

and through their attorneys of record, S. Brent Vogel and Adam Garth of Lewis Brisbois Bisgaard 

& Smith, LLP, hereby discloses the following expert witness, pursuant to NRCP 16.1 as follows: 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

Case Number: A-19-788787-C

Electronically Filed
6/18/2021 12:37 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

1.       Hiren Shah, M.D.  
2730 North Dayton Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60614 

Dr. Hiren Shah is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his 

understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care, 

causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and costs of medical expenses. Dr. Shah has been board 

certified in Internal Medicine in Chicago, Illinois since 2002. He is medical staff in the 

Department of Internal Medicine at Northwestern Memorial Hospital currently.  Exhibit A hereto 

is Dr. Shah’s Curriculum Vitae. Exhibit B hereto is Dr. Shah’s testimony list.  Exhibit C hereto is 

Dr. Shah’s fee schedule. Exhibit D hereto is Dr. Shah’s initial expert report. 

Dr. Shah is expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to Rebecca 

Powell was within the applicable standard of care, consistent with his Report, and will further 

testify the acts of Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged by 

Plaintiffs. Dr. Shah is also expected to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as they 

relate to his medical specialties, which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony.  Dr. 

Shah reserves the right to supplement and/or revise his Report as new information is provided.  

2. Abraham M. Ishaaya, M.D., F.C.C.P., F.A.A.S.M., F.A.C.G.S., M.A.C.G.S. 
5901 West Olympic Boulevard, Suite 200 
Los Angeles, CA 90036 

Dr. Abraham Ishaaya is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his 

understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care, 

causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and costs of medical expenses. Dr. Ishaaya is board 

certified on The American Board of Internal Medicine, Pulmonary Medicine, Sleep Medicine, and 

Geriatrics. Dr. Ishaaya has been an expert witness since 2003. He is currently a assistant clinical 

professor at UCLA School of Medicine. 

Exhibit E hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’s Curriculum Vitae. Exhibit F hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’s fee 

schedule. Exhibit G hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’ s trial appearances and depositions list.  Exhibit H 

hereto is Dr. Ishaaya’s initial expert report. 

Dr. Ishaaya is expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to 

Rebecca Powell was within the applicable standard of care, consistent with his Report, and will 
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LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

further testify the of Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged 

by Plaintiffs. Dr. Ishaaya is also expected to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as 

they relate to his medical specialties, which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony.  

Dr. Ishaaya reserves the right to supplement and/or revise his Report as new information is 

provided.  

3. Richard Ruffalo, M.D., Pharm.D., M.A., F.A.C.C.P. 
11 Sea Shell 
Newport Coast, California 92657 
 

Dr. Ruffalo is a retained expert witness and is expected to testify regarding his 

understanding of the facts and circumstances surrounding the subject complaint, standard of care, 

causation, medical treatment, prognosis, and the pharmacology. Dr. Ruffalo is in fellowship with 

American College of Clinical Pharmacology as well as an affiliate since 1987.  Since 1986, he has 

been a member of Alpha Omega Alpha, National Medical Honor Society. Exhibit I hereto is Dr. 

Ruffalo’s s Curriculum Vitae. Exhibit J hereto is Dr. Ruffalo’s s fee schedule. Exhibit K hereto is 

Dr. Ruffalo’s initial expert report. 

Dr. Ruffalo is expected to testify, inter alia, that the care and treatment provided to 

Rebecca Powell was within the applicable standard of care, consistent with his Report, and will 

further testify the of Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center did not cause the damages alleged 

by Plaintiffs. Dr. Ruffalo is also expected to provide opinions regarding the facts in this case as 

they relate to his medical specialties, which may include but are not limited to rebuttal testimony. 

Dr. Ruffalo reserves the right to supplement and/or revise her Report as new information is 

provided.  

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 

. . . 
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LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

 
Defendant specifically reserves the right to designate any witnesses designated by any 

party. Defendant further reserves the right to supplement this list as any witnesses become known 

through the course of discovery. 

 

 DATED this 18th day of June, 2021. 

 LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
 

 
 
 By /s/  Adam Garth 
 S. BRENT VOGEL 

Nevada Bar No. 06858 
ADAM GARTH 
Nevada Bar No. 15045 
6385 S. Rainbow Boulevard, Suite 600 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89118 
702.893.3383 
Attorneys for Attorneys for Defendant Valley 
Health System, LLC dba Centennial Hills Hospital 
Medical Center 
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LEWIS 
BRISBOIS 
BISGAARD 
& SMITH LLP 
ATTORNEYS AT LAW 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 I hereby certify that on this 18th day of June, 2021, a true and correct copy of 

DEFENDANT VALLEY HEALTH SYSTEM, LLC DBA CENTENNIAL HILLS 

HOSPITAL MEDICAL CENTER’S INITIAL EXPERT DISCLOSURE was served by 

electronically filing with the Clerk of the Court using the Odyssey E-File & Serve system and 

serving all parties with an email-address on record, who have agreed to receive electronic service 

in this action. 

Paul S. Padda, Esq. 
PAUL PADDA LAW, PLLC 
4560 S. Decatur Blvd., Suite 300 
Las Vegas, NV 89103 
Tel: 702.366.1888 
Fax: 702.366.1940 
psp@paulpaddalaw.com 
Attorneys for Plaintiffs  

John H. Cotton, Esq. 
Brad Shipley, Esq. 
JOHN. H. COTTON & ASSOCIATES 
7900 W. Sahara Ave., Suite 200 
Las Vegas, NV 89117 
Tel: 702.832.5909 
Fax: 702.832.5910 
jhcotton@jhcottonlaw.com  
bshipleyr@jhcottonlaw.com 
Attorneys for Defendants Dionice S. Juliano, 
M.D., Conrado Concio, M.D And Vishal S. 
Shah, M.D. 
 

 
 
 

By /s/  Roya Rokni 
 An Employee of 

LEWIS BRISBOIS BISGAARD & SMITH LLP 
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HIREN SHAH, M.D. 
2730 N. Dayton Street 
Chicago, Illinois 60614 

(312) 330-4096 / hshah@nmh.org 
 
 
 

EDUCATION 
 

2000 - 2002 KELLOGG SCHOOL OF MANAGEMENT Evanston, IL 
NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY 
Master of Business Administration degree, June 2002 
• Majors in healthcare management, economics, and management strategy 

 
1992 – 1996 DREXEL UNIVERSITY SCHOOL OF MEDICINE Philadelphia, PA 

Doctor of Medicine, June 1996 
 

1987 - 1992 UNIVERSITY OF PENNSYLVANIA, Philadelphia, PA 
Bachelor of Arts in neuroscience, June 1992 

GRADUATE MEDICAL EDUCATION 

1999 UNIVERSITY OF PENNYSLVANIA MEDICAL CENTER 
Fellow, Quality and Disease Management / Fellow, DoctorQuality, Inc. 

Philadelphia, PA 

 THOMAS JEFFERSON UNIVERSITY HOSPITAL 
Resident, Department of Internal Medicine 

Philadelphia, PA 
1997-1999  
1996-1997 Intern, Department of Internal Medicine  

 
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE- Administrative Appointments 

 
NORTHWESTERN M EMORIAL HOSPITAL Chicago, IL 

2008-2016 Medical Director  
20010-2012 Director, Clinical Affair s, Division of Hospital Medicine 

2004-2007 Associate Director, Divi ion of Hospital Medicine 

 
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE- Faculty Appointments 

 
NORTHWESTERN UNIVERSITY, F EINBERG SCHOOL OF MEDICINE Chicago, IL 

2007-present Assistant Professor of Medicine  
2002-2007 Clinical Instructor of Medicine  

 
PROFESSIONAL EXPERIENCE- Hospital Appointments 

 
2002-present NORTHWESTERN MEMORIAL HOSPITAL 

Medical Staff, Department of Internal Medicine 

Chicago, IL 

2000 PERMANENTE MEDICAL GROUP 
Associate Physician 

Vallejo, CA 
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BOARD CERTIFICATION AND MEDICAL LICENSURE 
 

2002-present State of Illinois (036107424) 
2000-2002 State of California (A70699) - inactive 
1999-2000 State of Pennsylvania (MD-068814-L) – inactive 
1999 Diplomat, American Board of Internal Medicine 

 
COMMITTEE MEMBERSHIP 

 
2008-present Medical Peer Review Committee 
2007-present Strategic Planning Committee, Division of Hospital Medicine 
2007-present Productivity and Billing Committee, Division ofHospital Medicine 
2007-present Feinberg School of Medicine, Clinical Competency Committee 
2007-present Patient Care Committee 
2007-present Department of Medicine Quality Committee-Sitter Utilization 
2006-present Department of Medicine Quality Management Committee 
2006-present Pharmacy and Therapeutics, Medication Safety Subcommittee 
2006-present Executive Utilization Management Committee 
2006-present Utilization Management, Department ofMedicine Subcommittee 
2005 Hospitalist Budget Committee, Chair 
2004-2005 Medical Records Committee 
2004-2005 Timely Comfort Care Orders Committee, Clinical Sponsor 
2004-2006 Physician Clinical Information Systems Leadership Committee 
2004-2005 Congestive Heart Failure Leadership Committee 
2004-2006 Pneumonia Project Leadership Committee, Clinical Sponsorand Member 
2003-2004 Computer Physician Order Entry Committee 
2004 Hospitalist/Attending Service Reform Working Group 
2003 Hospitalist Attending Service Operations Committee 
2002 Healthcare Biotechnology Conference Committee, Northwestern University 
2001 Business of Healthcare Conference Committee, Northwestern University 
2001 Student Health Insurance Reform Committee and Working Group, Northwestern University 

 
TEACHING EXPERIENCE 

 
2006-present Medical Decision Making, Conference Leader 
2005-present Organization and Economics of Medicine, Lead Lecturer and Course Teacher 
2005 Patient, Physician and Society, Physical Exam Skills, Conference Leader 
2003, 2004 Organization and Economics of Medicine, Conference Leader 
2003-present Northwestern Service Ward Attending, Resident and Medical Student Clinical Teaching 
2003-present Medicine Consult Service Attending, Department of Internal Medicine 
2002-2003 Patient, Physician and Society, Physical Exam Skills, Conference Leader 

 
PROFESSIONAL AND SCIENTIFIC SERVICE 

 
2009 Senior Fellow, Society of Hospital Medicine 
2008-present Chapter Support Committee, Society of Hospital Medicine 
2008 Research and Abstract Judge, Society of Hospital Medicine Annual Meeting 
2007-present Journal of Hospital Medicine 
2006-present Journal Reviewer- Journal of General Internal Medicine 
2005 Innovations in Medical Education Abstract Review Committee, Society of General Internal Medicine 

 
HONORS AND AWARDS 

 
2012 Partner in Care, Leadership in Observation Unit, Northwestern Memorial Hospital 
2011 Excellence in Quality Improvement, Best Project, Northwestern Memorial Hospital 
2008 Outstanding Reviewer Award, Journal of Hospital Medicine 
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2006 Best Resident Teacher Award, Section of Hospital Medicine 2004 
 Best Resident Teacher Award, Section of Hospital Medicine 2002 
 Dean’s List, Kellogg School of Management 

1987 Miriam P. Webb Memorial Scholarship, University of Pennsylvania 
 

SCHOLARLY BIBLIOGRAPHY 
 

O'leary K., Killarney A., Hansen L., Jones S., Malladi M., Marks K., Shah H. Effect of Patient-Centred Bedside Rounds on 
Hospitalised patients' decision control, activation and satisfaction with care.BMJ Qual Saf. 2015. (ahead of print) 

 
Shah H, Christensen N. Recent Discharge Confers Risk for Venous Thromboembolism. Journal of Thrombosis and 
Haemostasis. 2015;12 (Suppl 2) 13: 715. 

 
Shah H, Christensen N. Recent Hospitalization Predicts Risk of Venous Thromboembolism. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 
2015; 10 (suppl 2). 

 
O'Leary K, Killarney A, Shah H, O'Sullivan P, Malladi M, Jones S, Hansen L. The Effect of Patient Centered Bedside 
Rounds on Patient Experience. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2015; 10 (suppl 2). 

 
Shah H., Masica A., Chun E., Jaffer A. Hospital-Based Quality Improvement in Stroke Prevention for Patients with Non- 
Valvular Atrial Fibrillation. Society of Hospital Medicine. Philadelphia. 

 
Shah H, Christensen N. Stroke Prophylaxis in Atrial Fibrillation Is Underutilized- an Academic Medical Center Experience. 
Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2014; 9 (suppl 2). 

 
Shah H, Christensen N. Severity of Stroke Risk in Atrial Fibrillation Does Not Correlate with the Use of Stroke Prophylaxis. 
Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2014; 9 (suppl 2). 

 
Shah H, Dyke J, Greene S. Effectiveness of a Universal Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis Strategy in Decreasing 
Upper Extremity Deep Venous Thrombosis. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2012; 7 (suppl 2). 

 
Shah H, Dyke J, Greene S. The Effect of Universal Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis on Complications Related to 
Anticoagulation. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2012; 7 (suppl 2). 

 
Shah H, Van Dyke J, Greene S. Underutilization of Anticoagulant and Antiplatelet Agents for Stroke Prevention in Atrial 
Fibrillation at an Academic Medical Center. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2012: 7(2):S30-31. 

 
Shah H, Van Dyke J, Halverson A, Watts C, Greene S. A Multilayered Strategy to Improve Venous Thromboembolism 
Events at an Academic Medical Center. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2011; 6(4):S67-68. 

 
Shah H, Van Dyke J, Liebovitz D, Bobb A, Standardi E, Watts C, Greene S. Use of 24-Hour Electronic Alerts to Increase 
Venous Thromboembolism (VTE) Prophylaxis Usage in Medicine Patients. Journal of Hospital Medicine, 2011; 6(2):S68-69. 

 
Shah H, Van Dyke J, Kotis D, Patel J, Bobb A, Chapman N, Greene S. The Use of Pharmacists as an Effective Strategy to 
Improve Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2011; 6(2):S69. 

 
Shah H, Donaubauer C, Sargant L, Schumacher K, Young R. An Innovative Approach to Improving Functional Mobility on 
a Hospitalist Unit. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2011; 6(2):S32-133. 

 
Shah H, Dyke J, Greene S, Watts C. Effects of a Formulary Change for VTE Prophylaxis at an Academic Medical Center. 
Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2010; 5 (suppl 1). 

 
Shah H, Streelman M, Gobel B. A Root Cause Analysis‐Driven Initiative to Reduce Hospital Falls [abstract]. Journal of 
Hospital Medicine. 2010; 5 (suppl 1). 

 
O'Leary K, Haviley C, Slade M, Shah H, Lee J, Williams M. Improving Teamwork: Impact of Structured Interdisciplinary 
Rounds on a Hospitalist Unit [abstract]. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2010; 5 (suppl 1). 
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O'Leary KJ, Haviley C, Slade ME, Shah HM, Lee J, Williams MV. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2011 Feb;6(2):88-93. 
Improving teamwork: impact of structured interdisciplinary rounds on a hospitalist unit. 

 
Shah H, Dyke J, Malkenson D, Greene S, Watts C. Venous Thromboembolism Prophylaxis in Hospitalized Patients: An 
Academic Medical Center Experience [abstract]. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2009; 4 (suppl 1). 

 
Sehgal NL, Shah HM, Parekh VI, Roy CL, Williams MV. Non-housestaff medicine services in academic centers: models and 
challenges. Journal of Hospital Medicine. 2008 May;3(3):247-255. 

 
BOOK CHAPTERS 

 
Shah H. Infective Endocarditis. In: Glasheen J. 2006. Hosptial Medicine Secrets. Secrets. Philadelphia: Mosby Elsevier 

 
Shah H, Masica A, Chun E, Jaffer A. Hospital-Based Quality Improvement in Stroke Prevention for Patients with Non- 
Valvular Atrial Fibrillation, Society of Hospital Medicine. Philadelphia. 

 
RESEARCH ACTIVITY 

2007-2008 Blue Cross and Blue Shield of Illinois, Technology Assessment Center, Research Associate. 

1990-1992 University of Pennsylvania, research fellow 
Department of Environmental and Pulmonary Medicine, Supervisor, Sheldon Fienstein, MD, PHD 
Genetic Cloning research of pulmonary surfactant gene “A Portion of the Surfactant SP-A Gene 
Consists of a Pseudogene” presented at annual research symposium, January 1992 

 
1998-1999 Thomas Jefferson University Hospital, research fellow 

Office of Health Policy and Clinical Outcomes, Supervisor, David Nash, MD, MBA 
Examined collaboration between Academic Medical Centers, HMOs, and Pharmaceutical Industry in 
clinical outcomes studies, 1998-1999 

 
PRESENTATIONS- available upon request 

 
PROFESSIONAL AND SCIENTIFIC ACTIVITY 
Society of Hospital Medicine, Senior Fellow 
Board of Internal Medicine, Diplomat 
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Division of Hospital Medicine 
Hiren M. Shah, MD SFHM 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
Phone: 312.926.3681 

 

 1 

December 15, 2019 
 
Please find below a list of cases in which I have provided trial testimony as a medical expert.  
 
1. New Hampshire- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Guyer vs NH Medical Center 
2. Ohio- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- West vs Hawley 
3. Indiana- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Hammer vs Adams 
4. IL- Cook county- testimony on behalf of defense- Paula Chibe vs Manzar 
5. Ohio- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Rodney Pugh vs Mercy Health/St. Joseph’s Hospital 
6. New York- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Inguitti vs Strong Memorial Hospital 
7. Michigan- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Baker vs. Goldfaden 
8. Illinois- testimony on behalf of defense- Sandoval vs Advocate 
9. Illinois- testimony on behalf of defense- Mertins vs. Northwest Community Hospital 
10. Illinois- testimony on behalf of defense- Altiveros vs Advocate 
11. Illinois- testimony on behalf of defense- Winters vs St. Alexius Medical Center 
12. Maryland- testimony on behalf of the plaintiff- Walsh vs Kim 
13. Nevada- testimony on behalf of the defense- Center vs Rives 
14. Nevada- testimony on behalf of the defense- Chicarelli vs North Vista 
15. Florida- testimony on behalf of plaintiff- Brown vs Orlando Health 
 
 

Sincerely, 

  
Hiren Shah, MD SFHM 
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Hiren Shah, M.D., MBA 
 
     Fee Schedule 2021 

$475/hr to review records, and for discussions and consultations 
$600/hr for deposition testimony (3hr min) 
$6000/day for out of town trial testimony  
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Division of Hospital Medicine 
Hiren M. Shah, MD SFHM 
211 E Ontario Street 7th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
Phone: 312.926.3681 

 

4812-3467-5439.1 1 
 

June 5, 2021 
 
Adam Garth 
6385 South Rainbow Blvd., Suite 600 
Las Vegas, NV 89118 
 
Dear Adam: 
 
Thank you for the opportunity to review the case of Ms. Rebecca Powell and her admission to 
Centennial Hills Hospital on 5/03/2017. I am a physician licensed and currently practicing 
medicine in the State of Illinois. In 1999, I became board certified in Internal Medicine and have 
maintained my board certification. I am an Assistant Professor of Medicine at the Feinberg School 
of Medicine at Northwestern University and have been a practicing internist and hospitalist for 
over 15 years during which time I have managed the evaluation, workup, and treatment of 
hospitalized medical patients. I routinely evaluate and admit patients who have respiratory 
infections, pneumonia, and agitation and who require antibiotic and airway clearance treatments. 
I also coordinate care with consultants such as pulmonologists and infectious disease physicians 
in patients with acute and chronic infections. Thus, I am familiar with the standard of care in the 
evaluation and treatment of patients who have conditions similar to Ms. Powell, whose case I have 
reviewed in this report.  In the preceding five years, I spent more than 95% of my professional 
time in the clinical practice of medicine in each year. 
   
My background has also included numerous leadership positions at Northwestern, including 
Associate Director of Hospital Medicine, Director of Clinical Affairs and Medical Director at 
Northwestern Memorial Hospital. In these capacities, I have had supervisory oversight for the care 
and treatment provided by our hospitalist group of over 80 physicians to patients similar to Ms. 
Powell and can speak to the acceptable standard of care issues as well as causation in this case. 
Please find attached a CV which further provides my experience and qualifications.   
 
I have reviewed the following to provide a basis of my opinions: 
1) Medical records from the admission to Centennial Hills Hospital on 5/3/2017(CHH00001-
01166); 
2) Complaint with affidavit; 
3) Records from plaintiff’s disclosure including autopsy findings; and 
4) Centennial Hills Hospital policy and records including event reporting and health care peer 
review, patient rights and responsibilities, policy sentinel events, and rapid response teams.  
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Division of Hospital Medicine 
Hiren M. Shah, MD SFHM 
211 E Ontario Street 7th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
Phone: 312.926.3681 

 

4812-3467-5439.1 2 
 

 
 
 
 
Case Summary: 
 
5/3/2017 
 
Ms. Powell was a 41-year-old female who was found unresponsive at her home in the early 
morning hours of 5/3/2017.  She was found lying in vomit and reportedly had ingested an overdose 
amount of Ambien and Cymbalta, which was suspected given empty bottles found by her bedside. 
Upon arrival by EMS, she was in distress and was intubated in the field. EMS brought her to 
Centennial Hills Hospital Medical Center after she was stabilized.  She was seen in the emergency 
room by Dr. Suresh Rodil and Dr. Kevin Hyer.  An emergency room history and physical was 
entered at 3:13 AM on 5/3/2017.  It indicated that there was concern for possible aspiration and 
there was hypotension upon arrival to the emergency room.  There were no visible signs of trauma.  
Vitals included heart rate 102, and blood pressure 89/52.  Ms. Powell was placed on a ventilator 
upon arrival.  She was acidotic with a pH of 7.251 on an arterial blood gas done at 3:38 AM.  WBC 
count was 9.36 and creatinine was elevated at 1.07.  After multiple doses of IV fluids, her blood 
pressure improved.  She was then admitted to the intensive care unit and the admitting hospitalist 
was notified.  The emergency room note was signed by Suresh Rodil at 5:44 AM. 
 
A history and physical was performed by hospitalist physician Dr. Trent Richardson who 
documented a note at 5:59 AM.  He indicated that the patient had acute respiratory failure from an 
apparent intentional drug overdose.  He documented that Ms. Powell's daughter lived with her and 
had seen her at about 8:00 or 9:00 PM taking doses of Benadryl.  Throughout the evening, she was 
monitored by her daughter and became progressively less responsive.  Dr. Richardson confirmed 
there was nonbloody emesis, and bottles of Ambien and Cymbalta that had been recently filled 
were found empty by the bedside.  He indicated the patient had acute respiratory failure and 
polysubstance overdose with altered mental status.  
 
CT brain without contrast showed no acute abnormality.  Chest x-ray showed clear lungs.  Right 
upper quadrant ultrasound showed only gallstones.  Pulmonary and critical care was consulted at 
21:45. 
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Hiren M. Shah, MD SFHM 
211 E Ontario Street 7th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
Phone: 312.926.3681 

 

4812-3467-5439.1 3 
 

Dr. Christopher Breeden from pulmonary and critical care medicine documented an admission 
consultation at 21:45. He further supported the history that was documented by the emergency 
room doctor and the hospitalist.  He indicated that Mrs. Powell’s daughter had checked on her 
mother at 2:30 AM and found her with emesis in her bed in an unresponsive state.  The last 
witnessed normal was at approximately 10:00 PM the night prior.  Dr. Breeden felt the patient's 
respiratory secretions were consistent with aspiration.  Antibiotics were started to treat for 
aspiration pneumonia.  Dr. Breeden’s diagnosis was drug ingestion with suicidal intent requiring 
intubation. 
 
5/4/2017 
 
The hospitalist the following day, Dr. Dionice Juliano, documented a note at 11:12 AM.  He 
indicated that due to agitation, Ms. Powell required a lot of sedation on ventilation.  Arterial blood 
gas showed an improved pH of 7.28 relative to that at admission.  He indicated that there was 
ongoing encephalopathy that was toxic and metabolic in nature due to an unintentional drug 
overdose.  Suspected drugs were Benadryl, Ambien, Cymbalta, and alcohol.  There was concern 
for aspiration pneumonia with the patient being treated on IV ceftriaxone.  Urine drug screens and 
serum toxicology screens were ordered. 
 
Dr. Christopher Breeden documented a note the next day at 13:49. He indicated the patient was 
sedated and intubated and was having gastric-looking contents from the endotracheal tube the night 
prior.  Chest x-ray that day showed an appearance of an infiltrate on the left.  There was suggestion 
of significant airway secretions.  Given the gastric contents in the ET tube and a new infiltrate on 
a chest x-ray, a bronchoscopy was ordered to evaluate for infection.  One dose of vancomycin was 
given and ceftriaxone was continued.  Tube feeds were provided through an oral gastric tube. 
 
Dr. Breeden performed a fiberoptic bronchoscopy and bronchoalveolar lavage.  There were 
significant mucosal purulent appearing secretions noted.  Corticosteroids were added given the 
degree of secretions and Zosyn was planned in addition to vancomycin.  
 
5/5/2017 
 
Dr. Juliano documented a note at 11:35 AM.  He noted the bronchoscopy findings.  Given the 
secretions on bronchoscopy, the diagnosis of aspiration pneumonia was further supported.  
Cultures from the bronchoalveolar lavage were to be followed.  ABG showed an improving pH at 
7.33.  At 18:44, Dr. Breeden documented a progress note.  He documented that there were still 

399



 
 
 
 
 
Division of Hospital Medicine 
Hiren M. Shah, MD SFHM 
211 E Ontario Street 7th Floor 
Chicago, Illinois 60611 
Phone: 312.926.3681 

 

4812-3467-5439.1 4 
 

ongoing secretions from the ET tube and felt the secretions were consistent with aspiration.  He 
continued corticosteroids and antibiotics. 
 
5/6/2017 
 
Dr. Juliano indicated that Ms. Powell was extubated that morning.  She was still drowsy.  The plan 
was to continue her current care and to downgrade her out of the ICU if she remained stable.  Dr. 
Breeden documented a note at 16:00.  After removing from the patient from the ventilator, Ms. 
Powell was placed on CPAP and tolerated this well.  He indicated that vancomycin and Rocephin 
were to be continued for aspiration given her secretions and given the findings on bronchoscopy.  
Steroids were to begin a taper in dose.  He suggested downgrading out of the ICU if a bed was 
needed. 
 
5/7/2017 
 
Dr. Juliano documented a note at 09:38 AM and wrote that a swallow evaluation was successful 
with a plan to advance her diet as tolerated.  Vancomycin and ceftriaxone were continuing.  He 
wrote to downgrade Ms. Powell’s care to medicine telemetry. 
 
A speech therapy assessment was performed by Tiffany Vetter at 11:20 AM that indicated Ms. 
Powell completed an evaluation without any signs of aspiration. 
 
Dr. Gary Skankey from infectious diseases documented a note at 15:38 for an initial consultation.  
He indicated that the WBC count had begun to increase.  Ms. Powell was feeling a little short of 
breath but better than the day prior.  There was minimal cough.  His diagnosis was aspiration 
pneumonia due to MRSA.  He recommended continuing vancomycin and to discontinue the 
Rocephin. 
 
5/8/2017 
 
Ms. Powell was seen by Dr. Skankey on follow up who documented a note at 14:57. He reported 
Ms. Powell was still a little short of breath.  He reported the bronchioloalveolar lavage cultures as 
showing moderate growth of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA). He 
recommended continuing vancomycin.  A chest x-ray was ordered for the following day.   
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Dr. Breeden documented a note at 22:01.  He reported that Ms. Powell had some cough and 
reported feeling swollen.  WBC count had decreased to 12.31 from 12.52 the day prior.  On 
5/6/2017, the WBC count was normal at 9.45.  He recommended continuing antibiotics per 
infectious disease.  He also suggested providing diuretic medications to remove fluid. 
 
5/9/2017 
 
Speech therapy evaluated the patient and nurse Joyce Arenas documented at 14:00 that Ms. Powell 
was cleared to have regular foods. 
 
Ms. Powell was seen by hospitalist, Dr. Vishal Shah, who documented a note at 14:05.  He wrote 
the patient denied any shortness of breath.  The patient denied any suicidal ideation at the time.  
She admitted to taking Ambien the night of her admission.  WBC count increased to 13.35 from 
12.31 the day prior.  His diagnosis was respiratory failure requiring intubation due to MRSA 
aspiration pneumonia.  The plan was to await psychiatric placement.   
 
Dr. Skankey from infectious disease documented a note at 16:33 and wrote that she was improving 
from MRSA aspiration pneumonia.  White blood cells were slowly rising which he felt was due to 
prior doses of steroids which were being tapered.  His plan was to change vancomycin to oral 
bactrim for 7 more days.   
 
Dr. Breeden documented a note at 17:47 and noted less cough.  He recommended continuing the 
plan of care as outlined previously. 
 
5/10/2017 
 
At 2:00 AM, nurse Bernadine Rebogio documented that Ms. Powell had coughing which was 
nonproductive.  She was short of breath and 2 L of oxygen was placed.  Breathing treatments were 
provided.  At 7:00 AM, nurse Nicholas Muir accepted care and noted the patient had complaints 
of shortness of breath at that time. 
 
At 11:35, Ms. Powell underwent a physical therapy session with Shannon Roling.  She indicated 
that Ms. Powell was exhibiting very shallow and more labored breathing compared to her prior 
evaluation.  Saturations remained in the 90s on 3 L of oxygen.  After ambulating 10 feet, she 
required very long seated rest breaks and had pursed lip breathing.  She had significantly decreased 
oxygen tolerance. 
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Dr. Vishal Shah documented a note at 13:16 and indicated that Ms. Powell had no new complaints, 
and her shortness of breath was better.  He remained unsure if the WBC elevations were due to 
steroids. Ms. Powell's room air oxygenation was 93%. The patient was awaiting oxygen 
arrangements and for physical therapy clearance prior to possible psychiatry transfer.  
 
At 16:00, nurse Nicholas Muir documented that Ms. Powell was complaining of increased labored 
breathing and felt like she was drowning.  Breathing treatments were ordered and Ativan for 
anxiety was given by Dr. Shah with no improvement.  When Dr. Shah was called, he ordered a 
stat arterial blood gas and a Chest x-ray. 
 
Respiratory therapy evaluation at 16:31 indicated that there was respiratory distress in the 
radiology department at the time of the Xray and a rapid response team was activated but Ms. 
Powell was found to be stable with an oxygen saturation of 98% on 6 liters by nasal canula and 
had a respiratory rate of 28. The chest x-ray showed bilateral interstitial infiltrates.  
 
In the patient's discharge summary, Dr. Shah documented these events. He documented that earlier 
that day, the patient had worsening leukocytosis and her bactrim was changed to Zyvox and 
cefepime and repeat cultures were ordered.  Dr. Shah then documented that he was called by the 
RN at 5:00 PM stating the patient was short of breath.  He ordered a stat chest x-ray and an ABG.  
He advised the nurse to follow-up with the pulmonary doctors for further orders, which was done.  
A rapid response was also called while the patient was at chest x-ray.  Ms. Powell's vital signs 
were stable including oxygenation.  Dr. Shah then noted that the patient was seen by infectious 
disease and pulmonary medicine after the chest x-ray and a CT angiography of the chest was 
ordered by the ID doctor. 
 
An arterial blood gas was drawn at 16:32 and indicated a pH of 7.37 with a PO2 oxygen level of 
89 on 6 liters of supplemental oxygen given by nasal cannula.  
 
Medication administration records indicate that a 0.5 mg dose of Ativan was given at 16:01 as 
ordered by Dr. Vishal Shah at 15:54.  The dose was administered by nurse Nicholas Muir. 
 
 Dr. Skankey then documented a note at 17:05.  He noted the patient had extreme shortness of 
breath and was complaining of a dry feeling in her mouth, her throat, and her lungs.  She was 
unable to cough the respiratory secretions that were present.  WBC count had now risen up to 
23.14.  On 6 L of oxygen, he indicated an ABG showed a PO2 of 89.  He noted a chest x-ray that 
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day showed prominent bilateral interstitial infiltrates.  Dr. Skankey felt that it was necessary to 
discontinue the bactrim and to start oral Zyvox and IV cefepime given the increase in WBC count 
and worsening clinical condition.  He was concerned about possible sepsis and documented this.  
He ordered a CT angiography of the chest and wrote to order blood cultures.   
 
Dr. Breeden documented a note at 17:12 indicating that the patient had shortness of breath and that 
a rapid response was called when the patient was down at chest x-ray.  Ms. Powell was then sitting 
up still having shortness of breath and some cough at the time of Dr. Breeden’s evaluation. He 
wrote to resume steroids every 8 hours.  He started low-dose theophylline.  He supported the order 
of a CT angiography of the chest as suggested by Dr. Skankey. 
 
Nurse Michael Pawlak indicated in the note that Ms. Powell had shortness of breath during 
movement between the bed and the bedside commode which began as early as the start of his 7:00 
AM shift.  Ms. Powell responded to as needed breathing treatments.  He documented that a stat 
CTA of the chest was ordered at 2:00 AM. 
 
RT evaluation at 22:22 noted a saturation of 92% on 3 liters supplemental oxygen. Vital signs 
23:52 indicated a heart rate of 100 and respiratory rate of 22 at the time of nebulizer therapy at 
23:52. 
 
5/11/17 
 
Vital signs at 00:10 indicated a heart rate of 101 and a respiratory rate of 20. Ms. Powell was still 
on 3L of oxygen saturating at 95%.  
 
According to nurse Pawlak’s note, as needed Ativan that was ordered in her profile was given at a 
dose of 0.5 mg dose at 2:20 AM.  The patient was then transported to CT scan at 2:30 AM.  At 
approximately 2:40 AM, the CT scanner staff called nurse Pawlak and indicated that the patient 
could not complete the test due to shortness of breath and anxiety and was returned back to her 
room.  Charge nurse Karen Valdez was then called to assist in assessing the patient. 
 
Nurse Pawlak's note also indicated that Nurse Valdez evaluated Ms. Powell who reported shortness 
of breath and that the first dose of Ativan was not effective.  A page was made to night hospitalist 
Dr. Coronado Concio to discuss the patient’s complaints. She spoke to nurse Valdez and ordered 
an additional dose of 0.25 mg of Ativan.  This was administered by nurse Valdez at 3:27 AM.  
This second dose of Ativan appeared to be effective in calming Ms. Powell. 
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At 3:15 AM, nurse Karen Valdez documented her own version of events. She indicated in her own 
note that she saw the patient with the primary nurse, RN Pawlak.  Ms. Powell was very anxious 
and was having shortness of breath.  Respiratory therapy was notified to evaluate Ms. Powell. Dr. 
Concio was paged again and ordered an additional dose of Ativan to help the patient relax.  The 
dose was 0.25 mg IV push.  The respiratory therapist named Vanessa Mower indicated that Ms. 
Powell was pulling her oxygen off.  It was decided to place Ms. Powell in wrist restraints.  Patient 
did seem to improve.  There was a conversation with the camera operator John about visualizing 
the patient closely. 
 
Respiratory therapist Mower indicated that to facilitate oxygen delivery a face mask was used at 
approximately 3:00 AM since it was difficult for Ms. Powell to keep her nasal canula in place. Ms. 
Powell’s oxygen saturation was 90% at the time of RT evaluation at 4:08am.  
 
Nurse Pawlak’s note indicated that Ms. Powell was more calm and her breathing appeared less 
labored at approximately 4:15 AM.   
 
A pain assessment at 4:00 AM by nurse Michael Pawlak indicated a score of 0 with no pain. It was 
reported that a CNA found Ms. Powell to be “ok” at 5:00 AM and was in no distress. Video 
monitoring every 15 minutes was ongoing and showed nothing out of the ordinary.  
 
Medical administration records confirm that the 0.25 mg Ativan dose was given at 2:23 AM.  
Another dose of Ativan was given at 3:27 AM and Ms. Powell was reevaluated at 3:42 AM where 
the dose was found to be effective.  She received acetylcysteine nebulizer therapy at 4:18 AM, 
ipratropium nebulizer at 4:18 AM and Xopenex nebulizer treatment at 4:18 AM. 
 
Vital signs at 4:08 AM and at 4:18am indicated a heart rate of 130 and a respiratory rate of 30 and 
at 4:47 AM indicated a heart rate of 140 and a respiratory rate of 30. 
 
At 6:10 AM, the patient was found sitting in her bed and unresponsive with the oxygen mask at 
her feet.  Chest compressions, bag ventilation and code blue were initiated at that time. 
 
L2K patient video observation record indicates that John Lotito was monitoring the patient and 
that Ms. Powell last appeared to be sitting in close to an upright position with fingers possibly in 
her mouth for approximately 1 hour prior to the code blue event at 6:10 AM.  There was no 
documentation of respiratory distress or any difficulty. Documentation in the L2K flowsheet 
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indicates that she was last seen at 6:00 AM by Mr. Lotito.  This form was reviewed by charge 
nurse Karen Valdez who signed the document at 07:10.   
 
Dr. Coronado Concio, the night hospitalist, documented that she was paged to attend a code blue 
and upon her arrival, Dr. Blumberg indicated that the code had begun around 6:15 AM when the 
patient was found unresponsive on her bed.  Dr. Blumberg intubated the patient upon her arrival 
and was able to suction a thick mucus plug from her throat.  Upon Dr. Concio’s arrival at 06:45, 
the patient had already received 11 units of epinephrine, 3 doses of bicarbonate and maximum 
doses of a dopamine drip.  She had asystole at the start of the code and subsequently PEA.  Dr. 
Concio continued the code blue at the request of Dr. Blumberg.  She continued resuscitation for 
an additional 15 more minutes, but Ms. Powell remained in PEA arrest.  After 45 minutes of 
resuscitation without any improvement, a decision was made to discontinue further care after no 
signs of pulses were palpated.  Time of death was documented at 6:57 AM. 
 
Dr. Vishal documented a discharge summary dated 5/20/2017 at 19:00.  He reviewed the clinical 
course in his note and indicated that he was notified by the night physician that a code event was 
called early that morning with an unsuccessful resuscitation.  He had a face-to-face discussion with 
the family including Ms. Powell's daughter, husband, son, and a friend.  He indicated that the cause 
of death was cardiopulmonary arrest with an unknown cause at that time. 
 
Standard of care opinions: 
 
Ms. Rebecca Powell was a 41-year-old female who was admitted after suspected ingestion of 
medications such as Ambien and Cymbalta leading to respiratory failure and unresponsiveness 
requiring intubation in the field by emergency medical services.  After arrival to Centennial Hills 
hospital, she had evidence of aspiration given oropharyngeal secretions and a rising WBC count 
along with worsened radiographic findings of pneumonia as noted by the pulmonary physician.  
Bronchoscopy confirmed the presence of significant secretions within the airways with cultures 
consistent with MRSA which supported the diagnosis of MRSA aspiration pneumonia.  As noted 
above in the extensive case summary, there was some clinical improvement from the time of her 
admission on 5/3/2017 supporting extubation on 5/6/2017. There was further clinical improvement 
until 5/8/2017 when she began to have a rising WBC count.  Documentation indicates that it was 
suspected that this WBC elevation may be due to steroids which were also given, but her 
subsequent clinical course suggested otherwise.  Beginning in the early morning of 5/10/2017 at 
early as 2:00 AM, her clinical course was consistent with progression of her respiratory infection 
supported by a history indicating worsening shortness of breath and respiratory difficulty. Her 
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WBC had increased significantly to 13.35 on 5/9/2017 and it went further up to 23.14 on 
5/10/2017.  This level of rise in the WBC was not consistent with steroid effect and given the 
increased respiratory symptoms, supported a progression of infection. Her worsening shortness of 
breath was documented on 5/10/2017 by both by pulmonary medicine and infectious disease 
physician who were concerned with the progression of her pulmonary infection. 
 
On 5/10/2017, Dr. Skankey, the infectious disease physician, was concerned for possible sepsis 
and documented the need to transition back from oral antibiotics to IV antibiotics.  He indicated 
Ms. Powell had extreme shortness of breath and needed CT imaging to better evaluate the 
progression of this infection.  An x-ray on 5/9/2017 showed ongoing infiltrates. The rapid response 
team evaluation in the chest x-ray department supported the need for assessment of this change in 
her respiratory function. 
 
Physical therapy assessment on 5/10/2017 earlier in the day also indicated a markedly different 
level of performance relative to the prior evaluation.  The physical therapist noted that Ms. Powell 
was short of breath, had pursed lips, and had significantly decreased exercise tolerance.  She 
required long rests in between any activity. Nurse Muir indicated that Ms. Powell had difficulty 
with movement from bed to commode with more difficulty breathing.  
 
When Dr. Vishal Shah was called about worsening shortness of breath, he appropriately directed 
the nurse to the infectious disease and pulmonary doctors for further management.  He ordered an 
arterial blood gas that showed Ms. Powell had a significantly decreased oxygen requirement 
having an oxygen PO2 of only 89 despite being on 6 L of oxygen.  This represented difficulty 
oxygenating due to worsening secretions and airway difficulty.  It was within the acceptable 
standard of care for Dr. Shah to address the patient's anxiety with a small dose of Ativan that had 
no meaningful effect in causing any respiratory suppression as further hyperventilation due to 
anxiety would lead to a worsening condition.  There is no evidence that this dose of Ativan led to 
worsening respiratory depression given the preservation of Ms. Powell’s respiratory rate with no 
evidence of a drop in her respiratory drive to suggest drug-induced suppression. In fact, she 
remained agitated. Dr. Shah met the acceptable standard of care in the evaluation, and management 
of Ms. Powell, and nothing that he did or failed to do contributed to her subsequent respiratory 
failure.  
 
Throughout the night, Ms. Powell had worsening shortness of breath and respiratory difficulty 
which required nebulizer therapy including an evaluation by the respiratory therapist at 4:00 AM. 
This event further supports worsening secretions and a need for better respiratory clearance 
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strategies. Given Ms. Powell’s level of anxiety, the 2 doses of Ativan that she received as ordered 
by Dr. Concio were appropriate and within the standard of care to address these anxiety symptoms.  
These doses of Ativan had no effect in decreasing her respiratory drive or causing the subsequent 
respiratory arrest that occurred at 6:10 AM.  Vital signs indicate respiratory rates at 4:08 AM, 4:18 
AM and 4:47 AM to be 30.  If one hypothesizes that Ativan had a respiratory suppressant effect, 
there would be an immediate decrease in respiratory drive which there is no evidence of in Ms. 
Powell’s situation.  In fact, the respiratory rates of 30 represent a significant increase from her 
baseline levels of 18-20 and supports that her pathophysiology was advancing and worsening 
secretions rather than any sedative effect from Ativan. Given the pharmacology of IV Ativan, if 
there was a sedative effect, this would have been immediately apparent after the dose was given 
which did not occur after either dose of Ativan.   
 
In addition, Ms. Powell was appropriately monitored on the floor and had multiple contact points 
by care providers prior to her code blue event at 6:10 AM.  A pain assessment was done at 4:00 
AM.  A respiratory treatment was done at 4:10 AM.  Vital signs were obtained at 4:08 AM, 4:18 
AM, and 4:47 AM.  The patient was evaluated both by the floor nurse and the charge nurse during 
those early morning hours.  Nurse Pawlak indicates that the patient was evaluated at 4:15 AM.  A 
CNA saw Ms. Powell at 5:00 AM. At none of these evaluations, was Ms. Powell in a condition 
that indicated distress or the need for escalation of care. In addition, L2K patient frequency 
observation records indicate that Ms. Powell was monitored by video device.  She was seen as late 
as 6:00 AM as documented on the L2K flowsheet by John Lotito. There is no evidence that Ms. 
Powell had removed her face mask.  The face mask was placed by the respiratory therapist for ease 
of oxygen administration rather than for distress or the need to provide more oxygen than a nasal 
canula can provide. Ms. Powell’s saturations were affected by her agitation and cooperation and 
remained mostly above 92% and often as high as 95%. At no time were oxygen saturations at a 
level that indicated distress or transfer to another floor.  
 
In fact, the code blue event occurred just 10 minutes after the last documented visualization by 
video monitoring which showed nothing out of the ordinary. Although it may have been difficult 
to see a nasal canula on the monitor, a face mask would be more visible. In any event, there is no 
evidence that it was not in place for any prolonged period of time.  In addition, the standard of care 
did not require a one-to-one sitter in the room given the adequacy of video monitoring and the 
patient's condition which was stable but worsening lung infection due to secretions rather than 
respiratory distress or collapse.  Thus, although she had a worsening respiratory infection, there is 
no evidence that she was in respiratory distress requiring transfer to a higher level of care or the 
intensive care unit. 
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Contrary to the plaintiff expert’s opinion, there is no evidence that the dose of Ativan given by Dr. 
Shah or the two doses given by Dr. Concio had any contribution to respiratory depression or the 
code blue event.  There is ample evidence that Ms. Powell maintained a strong and adequate 
respiratory effort based on her vital signs and respiratory rate which was as high as 30. In addition, 
if there was any sedation, it would have been immediate given the method of Ativan deliver was 
intravenous which is rapidly acting. Thus, Ms. Powell exhibited no sedation or a decrease in 
respiratory drive as IV Ativan would be expected to provide immediately visible adverse effects. 
Her agitation and lack of cooperation at the CT scan further supports the fact that the Ativan given 
20 minutes earlier did not have a respiratory depressant effect. 
 
The plaintiff’s expert affidavit also claims that Ms. Powell had six sedating drugs on her 
medication list. There is no evidence that any of the agents referenced had a meaningful effect on 
Ms. Powell’s level of alertness or that there was an interaction between any of these drugs and 
Ativan to cause sedation. Furthermore, the opinion that acetylcysteine, a cough medicine or a drug 
used with nebulizers, caused sedation in Ms. Powell’s’ case in not supported by any evidence.  
 
The standard of care did not require a chest x-ray in the early hours after it was determined that 
Ms. Powell could not cooperate with the CT scan due to shortness of breath. Obtaining a chest x-
ray would not have any meaningful effect on the outcome in this case.  Ms. Powell was already 
receiving antibiotics for a known respiratory infection.  She was also receiving frequent nebulizer 
therapy for airway clearance.  It was also quite evident from the above events that the indication 
for imaging was not to obtain and report results to determine pulmonary involvement as indicated 
in the plaintiff expert’s affidavit as it was clear that worsening secretions were ongoing as the 
cause of Ms. Powell’s symptoms. A chest x-ray would not change the medical plan or alter Ms. 
Powell’s management in any way. 
 
A documentation of a differential diagnosis is not required by the standard of care especially if the 
care provided adhered to the acceptable standard. There is no evidence to support the opinion that 
the possibility of medication side effects was required as documentation given the clinical course 
does not support any medication-induced sedation. In addition, the standard of care did not require 
each of the three physicians outlined in the plaintiff expert’s affidavit to evaluate the patient’s 
administered medications.  
 
Transfer to a higher level of care was not required based on Ms. Powell's condition.  Although she 
had a worsening respiratory infection, she was not unstable and did not require any higher level of 
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treatment or monitoring.  A rapid response team even if activated at the time of the respiratory 
treatment at 04:10 AM would not have provided any additional care as Ms. Powell responded to 
the nebulizer therapy and was comfortable as indicated by the assessments subsequently.  Ms. 
Powell's tachycardia as documented in the early morning hours around 4:00 AM was likely due to 
the recent nebulizer therapy, which can lead to an elevated heart rate.  There is no indication that 
Ms. Powell was in respiratory distress or that the tachycardia was evidence of such.  In addition, 
cardiac monitoring was not required as the IV Ativan was not leading to any cardiac depression.  
Ms. Powell had no known cardiac disease and rather had a worsening but stable respiratory 
condition that did not require monitoring on telemetry. Although, Ms. Powell had a documented 
respiratory rate of 30 at 4:18 and 4:37 AM, this was not sustained as she was subsequently more 
comfortable as documented by nurse Pawlak and charge nurse Valdez. She was not seen in any 
distress on the video monitor or at the time of the CNA rounds that occurred at 5:00 AM or during 
the multiple healthcare provider encounters mentioned above. Her elevated respiratory rates were 
related to anxiety and agitation and not due to hypoxia as her saturations remained in a range that 
were appropriately managed by supplemental oxygen. 
 
Ms. Powell’s autopsy record indicates a pathologic diagnosis of acute and chronic pneumonia and 
foreign body giant cells along with pulmonary edema.  In addition, both lungs show marked and 
extensive consolidation of both upper and lower lobes.  The lower trachea and major bronchi 
revealed marked congestion and apparent infection.  Microscopic exam also supports acute on 
chronic inflammation in the lungs.  
 
Thus, as supported by the clinical course and the autopsy findings above, Ms. Powell's most likely 
cause of death was worsening pneumonia complicated by with acute mucus plugging that led to 
respiratory failure at 06:10am. Given the extent of her secretions, as documented at the start of her 
hospital course and their recurrence in the early morning of 5/10/17, along with Dr. Concio’s note 
indicating that Dr. Blumberg had removed a thick mucus plug at the time of the resuscitation, the 
most likely cause of her respiratory arrest was the large mucus plug that occluded her airway. Vital 
signs and pulse oximetry reading ranged mostly in the 92 to 98% range on supplemental oxygen, 
indicating no distress or instability. When Ms. Powell was placed on a face mask with higher flow 
oxygen, it was to support better oxygen delivery given her hyperventilation and high respiratory 
rates due to agitation and anxiety rather than due to acute respiratory decompensation as is 
incorrectly postulated and not supported in the plaintiff’s expert affidavit. In fact, although Ms. 
Powell had worsening pneumonia symptoms due to secretions, she was hemodynamically and 
otherwise stable such that she did not require transfer to a higher level of care. In addition, as noted 
above, her tachycardia was likely nebulizer related and also possibly due to agitation and her 
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respiratory rates that were recorded as high as 30 were due to hyperventilation due to agitation. 
An RRT even if called at the time of these vitals were taken would not have led to any additional 
management. In fact, Ms. Powell’s agitation improved, and she was comfortable by the time of 
the nurse Pawlak’s reassessment at 04:15 and the CNA rounds at 05:00. There is no evidence that 
Ms. Powell had removed her mask or was in any distress that would have required closer 
monitoring. In addition, at no time did the standard of care require the presence of a sitter despite 
this been suggested by some hospital staff in this case.  
 
Ms. Powell was also never diagnosed with an anxiety disorder but was rather treated appropriately 
and within the standard of care of anxiety symptoms. The plaintiff’s affidavit states that the code 
blue event occurred within 90 minutes of the administration of Ativan, which is incorrect. The last 
dose of Ativan given was at 3:27 AM with the code occurring at 6:10 AM which was 2 hours and 
43 minutes later. This gap of time does not support a causal link between the two events given the 
rapid onset of action of IV Ativan. As noted above, there is no evidence of respiratory suppression 
from the doses of Ativan that were given based on the respiratory rate and the clinical symptoms 
and course.  
 
There is no evidence that the care provided by Dr. Dionice had any impact of the clinical course 
or events of 5/10/17 or the code event. In addition, the standard of care did not require Drs. Dionice, 
Concio, and Shah to review Ms. Powell’s medication list and to document drug side effects or 
interactions as there was no meaningful effect of Ms. Powell’s medications on her clinical status 
or subsequent course. There is no evidence that medications were the cause of her symptoms or 
her health status. Finally, the findings of the Department of Health and Human Services provide 
no evidence that the issues noted had any bearing of Ms. Powell’s clinical outcome, which would 
have been the same regardless of their occurrence.   
 
In summary, the cause of Ms. Powell’s death was an acute mucus plug that led to sudden 
respiratory failure at 6:10 AM on top of superimposed bilateral pneumonia.  She had ongoing 
secretions clinically, progression of lower airway congestion, and bilateral pneumonia at autopsy 
and was noted to have the removal of a large mucus plug at the time of her code event, which 
represent the basis of this opinion.  Although she had progression of her pneumonia and significant 
secretions prior to the code blue, there is no indication that she was unstable and required transfer 
to a different level of care or required additional monitoring.  Her increased respiratory rate further 
supports that she had no sedative effect for respiratory depression from the Ativan or by any other 
drug that was given by any of the physicians in this case.  Her tachycardia was the result of the 
nebulizer treatment she had received and due to agitation and not due to any form of distress that 
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required any action that was not taken in this case. Nothing that the providers did or failed to do 
resulted in Ms. Powell’s code blue and subsequent death.  
 
All my opinions noted above are stated to a reasonable degree of medical probability. Please do 
not hesitate to contact me should you have any further questions.  
 
Sincerely, 

 

  
 

Hiren Shah, MD SFHM 
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